IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

---

CASE NO. SC10-2043

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 95-1449CF

---

MICHAEL WAYNE SHELLITO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,  
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

---

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LINDA McDERMOTT  
Florida Bar No. 0102857  
McCLAIN & McDERMOTT, P.A.  
20301 Grande Oak Blvd.  
Suite 118-61  
Estero, FL 33928  
(850)322-2172  
F (954)564-5412

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **A. THE TRIAL**

At trial, the prosecution presented evidence that on the night that the victim was shot, Mr. Shellito attended a party at the residence of Steven Gill. In the early morning hours of August 31, 1995, Mr. Shellito, Gill and Gill's then-girlfriend, Sunshine Turner, left the party to take Turner home (T. 481-2).

Turner testified that during the drive to her house, Gill and Shellito discussed needing to work and make some money; though they never said it, Turner inferred that they were going to rob someone (T. 484-5). A few blocks from her house, Gill dropped Mr. Shellito off and then took Turner home (T. 485).

At approximately 4:30 a.m., state witness, Michael Green, heard arguing outside of his home (T. 461). He looked out the window and saw a young man fall over near his fence (T. 462). There was also a small, white pick-up truck present, but he could not describe the occupants (Id.).

According to defense witness, John Bennett, he too lived near where the shooting occurred and heard noises in the early morning hours of August 31, 1995 (T. 827). And, he too, looked out his window. He saw a truck and the silhouette of an individual who entered the drivers' side of the truck and drove away (T. 829-30).

Shortly thereafter, Gill and Mr. Shellito returned to the Gill residence, together (T. 429). Bays told the jury that upon their arrival, Mr. Shellito informed them that he had shot someone (T. 430). Bays was the only witness to testify that he saw Mr. Shellito with a firearm before he left with Gill and Turner in the early morning hours of August 31, 1995 (T. 424).

Later that day, yet another party occurred at the Gill residence. Several teenagers again congregated at the Gill residence to consume alcohol and smoke marijuana. Theresa Ritzer and Laterio Copeland told the jury that sometime during the party, Mr. Shellito confessed to shooting the victim earlier that day (T. 708, 759).

In the early morning hours of September 1, 1995, law enforcement raided the Gill residence (T. 560). Officer Robert Hurst testified that during the raid, Mr. Shellito left the residence through a bedroom window (T. 563-4). Despite warning him to remain at the scene, Mr. Shellito ran (T. 564). Officer Hurst released his dog, who caught and bit Mr. Shellito (T. 565-6). As Officer Hurst approached, he saw Mr. Shellito with a firearm, which was pointed at the dog (T. 568). Mr. Shellito was shot several times by law enforcement (T. 573).

The firearm that was found a few feet from Mr. Shellito upon his arrest matched the casing that was found at the scene of the

shooting the previous morning (T. 813).

On Mr. Shellito's behalf, the defense presented the testimony of Jabreel Street, who had been incarcerated with Bays at the Duval County Jail<sup>2</sup> (T. 864). Street testified that Bays had asked him to "jump on" Mr. Shellito's case; i.e., learn of information about the case and then provide it to the State as if it had come from Mr. Shellito (T. 865). Street testified that Bays had some paperwork in his cell with Mr. Shellito's name on it – it looked like a police report (*Id.*). Bays did give Street information about Mr. Shellito's case to use, but Street did not want to "jump on" the case (T. 867).

Also, Mr. Shellito's mother and father testified that Steven Gill told Mrs. Shellito that he had confessed to his attorney that he had killed the victim, but that he would not admit that to law enforcement or the prosecution (T. 962-4, 998-9).

The jury found Mr. Shellito guilty as charged (R. 1209).

After the jury convicted Mr. Shellito of first degree murder, the jury reconvened for the penalty phase. The State's first witness was Ricky Bays. Bays testified that on September 1, 1995, he was with Mr. Shellito when he robbed two people (T. 1316). The first robbery occurred when Mr. Shellito and Bays picked up a hitchhiker. Bays testified that Mr. Shellito had pointed a gun at the hitchhiker, and later told Bays that he wanted to kill the hitchhiker, but another car approached them, so he did not (T. 1317). Bays also testified that Mr. Shellito then robbed a drug dealer for his marijuana (T. 1318).

The State also presented the testimony of Kenneth Wolfenbarger, the hitchhiker, who was robbed. He told the jury that Mr. Shellito had pulled him from the backseat and taken his backpack which contained about \$10.00 (T. 1326-8).

The State also introduced the certified copies of Mr. Shellito's convictions for aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer, which arose out of the events surrounding Mr. Shellito's arrest on September 1, 1994, and an aggravated assault from when Mr. Shellito was 17 years of age, when he possessed an air gun (T. 1331-2, 1334-5).

Finally, the State presented the victim's mother who testified as to the impact of the loss of her son (T. 1338-42).

The defense presented scant evidence about Michael Shellito's background, including that when Mike was a few days old, he choked on some milk and turned purple (T. 1403). When his mother took him to the hospital the doctors told her that there may be damage, and she needed to "watch" him (T. 1404). Also, the jury heard that Mike's father was an alcoholic who did not get along well with his son

---

<sup>2</sup>Bays had been arrested the same night as Mr. Shellito for his (Bays) participation in two armed robberies that occurred hours before the raid on the apartment.

and hit him on a few occasions (T. 1407-8); Mike was placed in special ed in kindergarten and had problems reading and writing (T. 1409, 1412); Mike started hanging around with the wrong crowd as a teenager (T. 1430-1); and Mike was a “nice” kid who took care of pets and helped around the house (T. 1412). Finally, Mike’s mother told the jury that there was something psychologically wrong with Michael – he had spent time in hospitals, taken a drug called Tegretol and attempted suicide (T. 1413-8).

During his closing argument, Prosecutor Plotkin minimized any mitigation that had been presented and characterized it as “excuses” (T. 1448, 1466). He also suggested that Mr. Shellito’s mother was not a credible witness and she was the only witness to provide anything mitigating (T. 1465-6). Prosecutor Plotkin improperly argued that Mr. Shellito showed no remorse (T. 1468).

No evidence was presented to the trial court before Mr. Shellito was sentenced.

The trial court found two aggravators: 1) prior violent felony; 2) the crime was committed while Mr. Shellito was engaged in the commission of a robbery; and 3) pecuniary gain (merged) (R. 371-402).

As to mitigating evidence presented at the penalty phase, in his sentencing order, the trial judge gave the age mitigator only slight weight because:

At the time of the murder, the defendant was 6’4” tall, weighed 176 pounds and was 19 years of age. He is now 20 years old. He was and is a physically mature adult male. The murder victim, Sean Hathorne, was 18 years of age.

The defendant’s criminal record started at age 13 in Juvenile Court. He was arrested 14 times as a juvenile and adjudged guilty of 4 felonies and committed to HRS. At age 16, he was certified from Juvenile Court to adult Felony Court for prosecution.

The defendant’s total criminal records as a juvenile and as an adult shows that he has been arrested 22 times, has been charged with 30 separate crimes and has now been convicted of 8 felonies as an adult. He also has 4 felony convictions as a juvenile.

The defendant was on probation for 2 violent felonies at the time he committed this murder.

The PSI and testimony show that the defendant has been using alcohol and drugs since an early age.

The defendant stated in the PSI that he was primarily supported by “different ladies in the community.”

Although young in years, the defendant is old in the ways of the world and vastly experienced in crime.

Outlawry, his chosen vocation, and the largess of favored females has been his livelihood.

The defendant’s age is a marginal mitigating circumstance and I assign it slight weight.

(Id.).

Furthermore, as to other mitigation presented at trial the trial judge stated:

The defendant was raised in a stable, lower middle class home with his mother, older sister and brother. His father was an alcoholic, a career Navy man and was away from home on duty about half the time during which the children were growing up. However, the father did take the defendant fishing, go-carting and to the movies on occasion.

The father and mother have gone to Court with the defendant after each criminal episode and have counseled with him about the consequences of his behavior.

The father treated and disciplined all of the children the same. On three occasions, he struck or pushed the defendant but on one of those occasions, the defendant was screaming at the mother and the father stepped in to protect

her.

The defendant did not do well when he started school and was put in a special education class.

His sister and brother excelled in school, both graduated from high school (the brother with honors) and both have become successful, law-abiding citizens. The brother is an E-4 in the Navy and the sister works at AT&T.

Much of the defendant's school problems were behavioral until he was finally dismissed from junior high school in the 8th grade and sent to a disciplinary camp after which he refused to return to high school. Since that time, he lived at home and could not or would not hold a job and set his own life style.

The defendant had a loving relationship with his mother, brother and sister. All children had the same advantages in the home and all were taught morality and the importance of the work ethic.

The defendant would frequently argue with his mother and have temper tantrums and threaten when he could not have his way.

Although he lived at home, he seldom worked and frequently was away, staying with friends and often got money from his mother so he could stay at motels with his girlfriends. He spent much time in the company of older women.

The defendant has, for short periods of time, been in several treatment and diagnostic facilities but without any specific diagnosis of mental illness or other disabling conditions.

This may be a marginal mitigating circumstance and I assign it slight weight.

(Id.).

## **B. THE DIRECT APPEAL**

On direct appeal, this Court found that error occurred at Mr. Shellito's penalty phase when the prosecutor argued that Mr. Shellito lacked remorse. Though this Court held that the prosecutor had asserted a nonstatutory aggravating factor, this Court held that the error was harmless. Shellito v. State, 701 So. 2d 837, 842 (Fla. 1997).

In addition, as to the trial court's consideration of Mr. Shellito's mitigation and this Court's determination of whether Mr. Shellito's death sentence was proportionate, this Court noted that: "Shellito presented no medical or other expert testimony to support his claims of organic brain damage or other impairment. Further, the evidence submitted to support his mental condition was conflicting." Id. at 844.

## **C. THE POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS**

### **1. Trial Counsel**

A few weeks after Mr. Shellito was indicted for the first degree murder of Sean Hathorne, Refik Eler was appointed to represent him (SPC-R. 2047). No other attorney was appointed to assist Eler (Id.). Eler testified that the theory of defense as to the guilt phase was that Stephen Gill "was the shooter" (SPC-R. 2067), and Mr. Shellito was the scapegoat (SPC-R. 2069).

In this regard, though Eler had wanted to present the statements Gill made to law enforcement, he failed to call Detective Hinson for no strategic reason (SPC-R. 2075). Likewise, Eler had no strategic reason for failing to obtain a ruling as to whether the State would be permitted to elicit testimony from Theresa Ritzer regarding an alleged threat Mr. Shellito made to her if he impeached her with her prior inconsistent statements.<sup>3</sup> Rather, Eler admitted that he simply "didn't anticipate" the State's rebuttal evidence (SPC-R. 2179). As to Richard Bays, Eler wanted the jury to believe that he had a grudge against Mr. Shellito (SPC-R. 2181). And while Eler attempted to impeach Bays about his pending criminal charges, he had no idea that on the day that jury selection began in Mr. Shellito's case, the State withdrew its efforts to classify Bays as a habitual violent felony offender (SPC-R. 2182). He would have used that information had he had it (SPC-R. 2184).

Eler also testified about his approach for Mr. Shellito's penalty phase: "depose witnesses, you talk to family members, you get — you have a confidential psyche done." (SPC-R. 2049).

---

<sup>3</sup>At trial, Ritzer testified that after Mr. Shellito confessed to shooting the victim, he pointed a gun at her head and told her that he would kill her if she ever repeated what he had told her (R. 790-1).

Specifically, in regard to developing mental health issues, Eler filed a motion on April 11, 1995, for the appointment of a confidential expert (R. 17-20). Eler requested a competency evaluation be conducted and made no mention of mitigation (Id., SPC-R. 2054). Indeed, Dr. Ernest Miller's April 21, 1995, report contained only his opinion about Mr. Shellito's competence (Def. Ex. 2). Dr. Miller had only received the arrest and booking report as background information (Def. Exs. 2 and 3). Eler's billing records reflect no other contact with Dr. Miller prior to or after receiving his report (Def. Ex. 4).

Indeed, it was not until June 26, 1995, shortly before trial, that Eler even began to request background records on Mr. Shellito, including his prior mental health treatment records from various hospitals (SPC-R. 2092-3, Def. Ex. 7). Most of the records were not requested until the week before Mr. Shellito's penalty phase commenced, despite the recess between guilt and penalty phase. See Def. Exs. 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15. The records which Eler did receive were just a day or two before the penalty phase was scheduled to commence; most were picked-up the day before (SPC-R. 2098, Def. Exs. 9, 10).<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup>Eler's notes reflect that he was unable to obtain the Grant Hospital records due to the fact that there was no time to pre-pay for the records (Def. Ex. 10). Indeed, Mr. Shellito's postconviction investigator, Rosa Greenbaum testified that the records from Grant were not included in Eler's original trial file when it was provided to postconviction counsel, with the exception of the one page discharge summary that was obtained from the Charter Hospital records (SPC-R. 3421). Ms. Greenbaum obtained the records from Grant Hospital (Id.).



Two days before Mr. Shellito's penalty phase was scheduled to commence, and before he had received most of the background records, Eler faxed Dr. Miller a one page discharge summary from Grant Center Hospital.<sup>5</sup> That same day Eler spoke to Dr. Miller for a few minutes and decided that Dr. Miller would not be helpful because he would do more harm than good in testifying as to Mr. Shellito's competency and/or capacity to appreciate the crime that he committed" (SPC-R. 2123-4). Eler decided that he did not want the jury to know that Mr. Shellito knew right from wrong (SPC-R. 2125). However, Eler admitted that he never discussed with Dr. Miller mental health issues about how the DSM instructs that a mental health examiner should not diagnose antisocial personality disorder without ruling out a diagnosis of organic brain damage; or how organic brain damage may cause an individual to appear as a manipulator (SPC-R. 2129); or how a split between an individual's verbal and performance IQs is a red flag for brain damage; or how Mr. Shellito had been diagnosed with organic brain disorder (SPC-R. 2153); or how Mr. Shellito was diagnosed with borderline intellectual functioning in 1990 (SPC-R. 2137); or Mr. Shellito's use of Prozac when he was a juvenile (PC-R. 2140); or Mr. Shellito's suicide attempts and overdose of Tegretol<sup>6</sup> (SPC-R. 2146; 2152); or the fact that Mr. Shellito was recommended to receive psychiatric treatment (SPC-R. 2150); or that use of drugs and alcohol may exacerbate the deficits caused by brain damage (SPC-R. 2159). Thus, while Eler obtained voluminous records about Mr. Shellito's previous mental health treatment, suicide attempts, diagnosis of organic brain disorder and treatment with drugs (Tegretol, Prozac and Navene), he did not provide the records to Dr. Miller (SPC-R. 2153).

## 2. Richard Bays

The trial prosecutor, Assistant State Attorney Jay Plotkin testified that Bays had been charged with armed robbery with a firearm by an information, dated September 20, 1994, along with Mr. Shellito (SPC-R. 3290). A week later, Bays was served with a notice of intent to prosecute him as a career criminal by which Bays would have been facing a life sentence, with a fifteen year minimum mandatory, if convicted (SPC-R. 3290-1). Plotkin sent Bays a notice of withdrawal of the habitual violent felony offender on July 17, 1995, the day jury selection began in Mr. Shellito's capital case (SPC-R. 3291), in which Bays was expected to be a key prosecution witness in both establishing Mr. Shellito's guilt and the aggravating circumstances in the penalty phase.

---

<sup>5</sup> Alan Chipperfield, a experienced capital trial attorney testified that it is important to gather background materials as quickly as possible, "primarily because the experts need records **in order to reach accurate conclusions.**" (SPC-R. 3406)(emphasis added).

<sup>6</sup> Eler had no idea what Tegretol was (SPC-R. 2146).

At the evidentiary hearing, Plotkin attempted to explain why Bays could not be prosecuted as a habitual violent felony offender citing an opinion that had been issued eighteen months prior to Bays' being charged as a habitual violent felony offender and claiming that he had "made a mistake" (SPC-R. 3292-4).<sup>7</sup> Bays' case was continued several times (SPC-R. 3301-3). After his testimony at Mr. Shellito's capital case, Plotkin and Bays negotiated a deal where Bays pleaded to a lesser charge – accessory after the fact to armed robbery, and he received 13 months, less than what he had already served in jail awaiting trial (SPC-R. 3297-8). Plotkin admitted that he made a conscious decision to dispose of Mr. Bays' case after the Shellito case (SPC-R. 3302). That is so because then the cooperating witness, in this case Bays, will testify at (Mr. Shellito's) trial, that there is no deal which is what the State prefers (SPC-R. 3306). Indeed, on cross-examination Plotkin admitted:

A: There was no specific deal with Mr. Bays.

Q: Was the only deal with Mr. Bays that you testify truthfully and we'll talk about it later?

A: **He knew that if he testified truthfully that would be taken into consideration.**

(SPC-R. 3328).<sup>8</sup>

Plotkin also conceded that he did not correct Bays' false testimony at Mr. Shellito's trial as to what possible sentence Bays was facing (SPC-R. 3345).

After Mr. Shellito's trial, Richard Bays, who was a key witness at both the guilt and penalty phases, was asked how he had been released so quickly on the charges he had (SPC-R. 2886-7). Bays responded that it was either "him or me", referring to Mr. Shellito and admitted that he got a "deal" (SPC-R. 2887).

### **3. Mental Health and Background**

#### **Mitigation**

##### **a. Mental Health**

In postconviction, Mr. Shellito presented the testimony of Dr. Elias Sarkis, a psychiatrist, Dr. William Riebsame, a psychologist, Dr. Craig Beaver, a neuropsychologist, and Dr. Joseph Wu, a psychiatrist. The experts all agreed that Mr. Shellito suffered from organic brain damage (SPC-R. 2313, 3151).

---

<sup>7</sup> A reading of the case Plotkin relied upon in "making a mistake" shows that he, in fact, did not make a mistake and Bays was correctly charged as a habitual violent felony offender. See Johnson v. State, 616 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1993).

<sup>8</sup> Plotkin believed that Bays knew he could help himself by assisting the State (SPC-R. 3360).

*i. Dr. Sarkis*

Dr. Sarkis was Mr. Shellito's treating physician when he was a patient at Grant Hospital in 1991 (SPC-R. 2951). Dr. Sarkis explained that Grant was a "large child and adolescent psychiatric hospital located in central Florida" (SPC-R. 2951). Mr. Shellito was in the acute hospital program, so he was getting "more active evaluations" and participating in a lot of different programs (SPC-R. 2951).

Dr. Sarkis conducted an extensive evaluation of Mr. Shellito that included neuropsychological testing, a full psychiatric interview, including obtaining social and background information, medication management, and a speech and language specialist evaluated him as well as a dietician because he had abnormal labs (SPC-R. 2953-4). The EEG conducted on Mr. Shellito's brain showed left anterior and left temporal problems, i.e., the anterior part of the brain corresponds to the frontal lobe which is where the executive functioning occurs (SPC-R. 2955). Executive functions include: "planning, organizing, looking into the future, being able to formulate, you know, your plan for your life or your plan for your day or anything like that." (SPC-R. 2956). Due to the problems with Mr. Shellito's brain, Mr. Shellito was believed to be functioning at a lower age than his chronological age (*Id.*). The neuropsychological testing was consistent with what was found by the EEG (SPC-R. 2958).

Dr. Sarkis commented about the results of his evaluation:

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