IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL WAYNE SHELLITO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC10-2043

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

As a threshold matter, Shellito's Third Amended postconviction motion failed to allege a Giglio violation. (See PCR-II 276-79) Instead, it claimed a violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), which does not have identical elements: Giglio is a more defense-friendly theory. See Taylor v. State, 62 So.3d 1101, 1114-15 (Fla. 2011). The trial court decided the Brady claim. (See PCR-IV 574-76) Therefore, having been given multiple opportunities to amend his postconviction motion, Shellito failed to timely present to the trial court a Giglio claim, and failed to obtain a ruling on a Giglio claim. Therefore, ISSUE III is unpreserved below. See, e.g., Farina v. State, 937 So.2d 612, 629 (Fla. 2006)(relevancy objection insufficient to preserve appellate claim of prosecutorial misconduct; not "the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection ...

below"); Harrell v. State, 894 So.2d 935, 940 (Fla. 2005)(three components for "proper preservation"; "purpose of this rule is to 'place[] the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provide[] him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings'"); Gore v. State, 706 So.2d 1328, 1334 (Fla. 1997)(argument below was not the same as the one on appeal); Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730, 740 (Fla. 1994)("trial judge reserved ruling on this issue and apparently never issued a ruling. Consequently, this issue is procedurally barred").

The trial court did reject a <u>Brady</u> claim, and if ISSUE III is somehow construed as a Brady claim, the trial court merits affirmance:

Defendant's Ground Four

In ground four, the Defendant asserts that the State committed a Brady violation by withholding material and exculpatory evidence, and/or presented misleading evidence, which rendered trial counsel's representation ineffective. Specifically, the Defendant avers that the State did not inform the defense that any deals or benefits had been discussed with witnesses, but that he now knows that 'this is not the case.' The Defendant argues that Richard Bays testified against the Defendant in exchange for reconsideration by the State in seeking to classify Mr. Bays as a Habitual Violent Felony Offender (HVFO).

To prevail on a <u>Brady</u> claim, a defendant must show '[1] The evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching; [2] that evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and (3] prejudice must have ensued.' <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 782 So.2d 853, 856 (Fla. 2001).

At the evidentiary hearing, former Assistant State Attorney Jay Plotkin testified that the Notice of Withdrawal of Habitual Violent Felony Offender was filed as a public record on July 17, 1995, the day that the Defendant's capital trial started. Provenzano v. State, 616 So. 2d 428, 430 (Fla. 1993). (P.C. Vol. VI at 26.) Mr. Plotkin also testified that the Notice was sent to defense counsel and stated the reasons why the Habitual Violent Felony Offender status was not being pursued against Mr. Bays; namely, that he did not qualify for such status pursuant to Johnson v. State, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993).

(P.C. VolVIat27.) While Mr. Plotkin acknowledged that his initial filing of the Notice to Habitualize was in error, he remedied that mistake immediately upon his realization of such by filing the Notice of Withdrawal. (P.C. Vol. VI at 29-30.) Additionally, Mr. Plotkin testified that no agreements were ever made with Mr. Bays regarding HVFO status and his testimony, and the terms of Mr. Bays' plea agreement were not worked out until subsequent to the Defendant's case. (P.C. Vol. VI at 33.) Moreover, even assuming arguendo that there had been an agreement between the State and Mr. Bays concerning an exchange of testimony for not pursuing habitualization, the Defendant still has not established prejudice to his case since the testimony of Mr. Bays mirrors that of others at trial, as well as other evidence presented, which supports the jury finding that the Defendant murdered Stephen Gill [sic]. (T.T. at 484-486; 708; 711; 759-760.) Thus, the Defendant has failed to establish that there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of his trial would have been any different had the existence of any such agreement been made and known, as the Defendant alleges. Accordingly, the Defendant's instant claim is denied.

(PCR-IV 574-76, bold and underlining in original, internal footnotes omitted)

In addition to the trial court's record-supported sound reasoning, it is also noteworthy that Shellito assumes that, from lenient treatment after Shellito's trial, there was some sort of deal with Bays even though Shellito did not prove a deal existed. Shellito's burden includes a communication from the prosecutor beyond "'speak[ing] a word' on the witness's behalf" and beyond a promise that "cooperation would be taken into consideration," Ventura v. State, 794 So.2d 553, 563 (Fla. 2001)(discussing Tarver v. Hopper, 169 F.3d 710 (11th Cir. 1999)). See also Depree v. Thomas, 946 F.2d 784, 797-98 (11th Cir.1991). An "ambiguous, loose, and marginal," Ventura, 794 So.2d at 563, promise is not a cognizable claim. A witness' subjective belief that the prosecutor would help him is not the basis for a Brady or Giglio claim. See, e.g., Hill v.

<u>Johnson</u>, 210 F.3d 481, 485-86 (5th Cir. 2000)(subjective beliefs of witnesses regarding the possibility of future favorable treatment are insufficient to trigger the State's duty to disclose under <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u>). Indeed, someone's subjective beliefs fail to provide state action on which to apply a U.S. constitutional claim.

Here, Shellito failed to prove that the prosecutor offered anything to Bays to induce his testimony. After-the-fact leniency is insufficient because, by itself, it does not demonstrate that the prosecutor had promised anything substantive prior to the witness testifying. Here, Bays actually entered a plea and was sentenced a week after Shellito, which was not unusual: "if you have a codefendant who's cooperating in a case and he's ultimately going to be sentenced, it's not unusual for him to be sentenced after the case is disposed of that he cooperated in." (PCT-Supp XVIII 3302-3303). Indeed, here, the prosecutor hid nothing, and any supposed IAC claim (See IB 75 n.44) is insufficiently developed in the Initial Brief to be preserved at the appellate level, and, there was not developed IAC allegation in CLAIM IV of the postconviction motion (See PCR-II 276-79). Further, there has been no proof demonstrating an IAC claim.

Here, the trial court's accredited the prosecutor's denial of any promise to Bays, and the trial court merits affirmance under either <u>Brady</u> or <u>Giglio</u>. <u>See Dailey v. State</u>, 965 So.2d 38, 46 (Fla. 2007)("Because recantation testimony 'entails a determination as to the credibility of the witness, this Court "will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on issues of credibility" so long as the decision is supported by

competent, substantial evidence'")(quoting Marquard v. State, 850 So.2d 417, 424 (Fla. 2002) (quoting Johnson v. State, 769 So.2d 990, 1000 (Fla. 2000))).

Yet further, argeundo, if defense counsel had been able to cross-examine Bays based on some sort of agreement or reduced exposure, its impact would have not reached a level of materiality or prejudice under any legal theory. The maximum prison sentence without the notice that was withdrawn would have still been life for Bays (See PCT-Supp XVIII 3337, 3366), and law enforcement had taken a statement from Bays well-before the supposed foundation for this claim arose (PCT-Supp-XVIII 3326-27), and that statement was consistent with Bays' trial testimony (Id. at 3327); Bays was "cooperative from the beginning" (Id. at 3328).

ISSUE IV: AKE VIOLATION? (IB 83-90, RESTATED)

This issue contends that Shellito rights were violated under $\underline{Ake\ v}$. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). The trial court's order merits affirmance;

Defendant's Ground Five

In ground fivel, the Defendant asserts that his mental health expert did not render adequate mental health assistance as required by Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). The Defendant avers that the inadequacy of the examination stemmed from the ineffective assistance by trial counsel in not securing and providing the expert the materials 'necessary for an adequate and appropriate evaluation.' With respect to the Defendant's claim that he received an inadequate mental health examination, such a claim is procedurally barred as it could have been and should have been raised on direct appeal. Marshall v. State, 854 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 2003); see also Cherry v. State, 781 So. d 1040 (Fla. 2000). As to the Defendant's claim that the inadequacy of the examination stemmed from trial counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to provide the expert with materials necessary for an 'appropriate evaluation,' trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that while he could not be a hundred percent certain as to what documents he gave Dr. Miller, one of those of

which he was certain he gave Dr. Miller was the Defendant's discharge summary from Grant Hospital. (P.C. Vol. I at 191.) Trial counsel went on to testify that the discharge summary made Dr. Miller aware that there were records showing a history of aggressive behavior, homicidal and suicidal threats, an organic mental disorder, that the Defendant was taking Tegretol, and that the Defendant had a conduct disorder, developmental language disorder, and reading disorder. (P.C. Vol. I at 191.) Further, trial counsel also testified that had Dr. Miller requested or recommended additional testing, he would have done so. (P.C. Vol. I at 200.) Thus, trial counsel's testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing has demonstrated that both trial counsel and the retained expert performed the tasks required by Ake. Accordingly, this claim is without merit.

(PCR-IV 576-77)

Indeed, as discussed in ISSUE I, Dr. Miller was actually appointed twice to evaluate Shellito.

ISSUE IV's allegation concerning "drugs and alcohol" (IB 88 n.56) is conclusory⁵ and, if the merits are reached, ineffectual. As discussed in ISSUE I, Shellito would not admit to committing the murder, rendering his mental state irrelevant.

The trial court's ruling that this claim is procedurally barred remains correct under recent case law:

Kilgore asserts that he was also denied his rights under Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985). However, the State is correct that Kilgore's claim that he was deprived of his right to an evaluation by a competent mental health expert is procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal. See Marshall v. State, 854 So.2d 1235, 1248 (Fla.2003) (citing Cherry v. State, 781 So.2d 1040, 1047 (Fla. 2000)) ('[T]he claim of incompetent mental health evaluation is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal.').

79

 $^{^{5}}$ The Third Amended postconviction motion's passing mention of "intoxicat[ion]" (PCR-II 283) is even more conclusory than the Initial Brief, and thereby facially deficient.

Kilgore v. State, 55 So.3d 487, 506 n.14 (Fla. 2010).

As represented by an officer of the Court, the State acknowledges Stewart v. State, 37 So.3d 243, 255 (Fla. 2010)(citing Raleigh v. State, 932 So.2d 1054, 1060 (Fla. 2006)(quoting State v. Sireci, 502 So.2d 1221, 1224 (Fla.1987)):

While ordinarily a postconviction claim based on Ake is procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal, a defendant is entitled to litigate during postconviction a claim that a prior mental health expert's examination was so 'grossly insufficient' that the expert 'ignore[d] clear indications of either mental retardation or organic brain damage.'

Here, Shellito was not retarded, and here, as the trial court's order and the ISSUE I discussion supra, indicate, adequate records were provided to Dr. Miller and Dr. Miller appears to have been informed of the prior notation of brain disorder. (See PCT-Supp-XII 2228-pCT-Supp-XIII 2235) Moreover, as discussed at length in ISSUE I, ultimately, the voluminous expert testimony that Shellito tendered at the evidentiary hearing, especially when juxtaposed to Dr. Holder's testimony, indicates that even with additional years of hindsight, Shellito still could not show that evidence is "better"; to the contrary, here, Shellito's postconviction evidence proves that Dr. Miller's evaluation was not insufficient. Akin to IAC analysis, the ability of a postconviction defendant to find more favorable experts does not demonstrate an Ake claim. Thus, Anderson v. State, 18 So.3d 501, 519-20 (Fla. 2009), rejected an Ake claim:

The fact that Anderson's postconviction experts concluded that he suffered from various mental health disorders does not discount Dr.

McMahon's evaluation, which did not detect any mental disorder or evidence of statutory or nonstatutory mitigation.

Therefore, the trial court "findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence. No "clear indications of ... organic brain damage" were missed. Raleigh v. State, 932 So.2d 1054, 1060 (Fla. 2006).

Shellito has failed to meet the pertinent burdens.

ISSUE V: IAC REGARDING PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENTS? (IB 91-93, RESTATED)

Shellito points to four prosecution arguments to the jury as his alleged basis for IAC. However, as the trial court found (See PCR-IV 582), the postconviction claim concerning prosecutorial argument failed to develop any IAC argument. Instead, it focused on a substantive claim of (See PCR-II 318-22) prosecutorial misconduct. Instead of alleging Strickland's two prongs and specifying how his allegations meet those burdens, the sum-total of the IAC allegation in CLAIM X of the Third Amended postconviction motion merely repeats a conclusion that defense counsel "ineffectively failed to object" (PCR-II 320) and defense counsel was "unreasonable" in his failure to object and no tactical reason applies (Id. at 322). Similarly, two claims cross-referenced by CLAIM X (CLAIM XV and CLAIM XX) focus on the underlying substantive argument, not IAC. (See Id. at 328-29, 341-43) Also, CLAIM XXI barely mentions defense counsel. (See Id. at 344) As such, this issue was not preserved below. See, e.g., Blackwood v. State, 946 So.2d 960, 968 (Fla. 2006)(affirmed summary denial of IAC claim; postconviction motion must demonstrate both ineffective performance and prejudice as a result of that deficiency); Spera v. State, 971 So.2d 754, 758 (Fla. 2007)("Failure to sufficiently allege both prongs

[of IAC claim] results in a summary denial of the claim"). For this reason, as well as the trial court's discussions of the merits, the trial court should be affirmed.

The trial court ruled as follows:

Defendant's Ground Ten

In ground ten, the Defendant asserts that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct during arguments in the guilt and penalty phases of his trial, which presented impermissible considerations to the jury, misstated facts, and were inflammatory and improper. To the extent trial counsel failed to properly object to the State's arguments, the Defendant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel. Florida Supreme Court has held substantive claims prosecutorial misconduct could and should be raised on direct appeal and defendants are, therefore, procedurally barred from raising such claims in a motion seeking post-conviction relief. Spencer v. State, 842 So.2d 52, 60 (Fla. 2003); see also Floyd y. State, 808 So.2d 175 (Fla. 2002); Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So.2d 1253 (Fla. $\overline{1}$ 995). Thus, the Defendant's claim of prosecutorial misconduct is procedurally barred. Further, the Defendant's allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel is merely conclusory. Conclusory allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel fail to establish entitlement to relief. Parker, supra. Accordingly, the Defendant's claim is without merit.

Defendant's Ground Fifteen

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